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Bertha Mary Brown,
who brought me into this world,
nurtured me through adolescence,
and knew exactly when to let go.
Evelyn Faye McLelland,
whose love and strength
kept me steady through some heavy winds.
Bonnie Lynn McLelland,
who is and has been
my pride, my joy and my friend.
~ ~ ~
Ernie Rucks
To my friend and teammate Ernie:
Long time friends are but a few
A lifetime’s handful seems to do.
Natural growth of respect and care
Based on trust and being there.
Sharing chunks of life so fine
Each moment a precious part of time.
Who decides a friendship’s length?
Or to whom it gives an added strength?
Could it be that we decided?
Or is there some far greater tide?
Knowing, without the need for something spoken
That what we have shall not be broken.
An ultimate gift to the end,
There’s nothing like a long time friend.
--Chris Kavolinas
~ ~ ~
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This is Canada and hockey, our National Game, is ours.... There have been countless special moments, highlights reel accomplishments, earthshaking on-ice exploits, and heroic happenings that will never be forgotten in the minds of our hockey-crazy nation. So many of them have taken place in Canadian communities, large and small, and captured in print, on radio and then on television, recorded for posterity and enjoyment by generations of Canadians.
In the last half of the 20th century though, our National Game took hold in many other parts of the world; especially across Continental Europe and Scandinavia.
And then, just after the halfway point of the century, “came the Russians”. The Reds exploded onto the global hockey scene in the 1950’s, marching roughshod over all opposition, even embarrassing formerly undefeated Canadian teams, to the shock and dismay of an unbelieving and unaccepting Canadian public.
Rumours, warnings and challenges followed, to the effect that Canada had forever lost its dominance and its Game, to other countries, and especially, to the Red Menace!
Then along came the Penticton Vees!
Gold Mine to Gold Medal is a story that’s needed telling for a long, long time! It is every Canadian kid’s dream from the time of learning to walk and lace on skates, because it is the unparalleled tale of a genuine, likeable, small town kid who, starting figuratively and literally with nothing, dreamed of being a goalkeeping star! He pursued that dream with hard work, dedication, style, and determination, all the way to Gold Medal success and world fame on the international stage.
Through it all, Ivan McLelland remained the same, humble, respectful man that he was when it all started in the small, gold-mining town of South Porcupine in Northern Ontario.
Ivan not only succeeded for himself; he literally inspired a generation of kids following in his footsteps, educating them to the joys of team sports, to the exhilaration of competing ‘til you drop, and doing it all with respect: respect for foes, respect for teammates, and most importantly respect for yourself. I know, because I was one of those inspired kids following after Ivan, and I’ve never forgotten him!
Ivan’s story will undoubtedly be inspirational for every Canadian, young or old, who ever dreamed the Canadian Dream!
Murray Costello (2012)
Past President-Hockey Canada
Vice President, International Ice Hockey Federation
~ ~ ~
It is not my intention for this book to become a financial success, nor do I foresee the book emerging as a literary treasure.
I do, however, believe readers will enjoy the journey and I would hope that in view of the research and effort invested to bring it to fruition, the average person—a hockey fan or not—becomes an interested reader.
In my first attempt at writing a book, I have endeavoured to recount the life of a boy living and growing up in a working class environment, eventually arriving to taste some success in his chosen sport and in life beyond.
In reading Gold Mine to Gold Medal it is my wish that readers enjoy the experience as much as I have in reliving it.
From this moment on, when people view one of the greatest sports events anywhere—Canada vs. Russia, Ice Hockey—they can confidently say, “Now I know exactly how this rivalry began.”
Ivan McLelland
Penticton Vees
1955 World Ice Hockey Champions
~ ~ ~
According to family members, and more than a few hockey friends, this is a book that had to be written.
This tale of one individual’s path begins with my earliest recollections. As I reached for a descriptive phrase what came to me was "Pinnacle of Poverty". In my humble opinion, this correctly describes our family’s beginnings during the terrible depression of the 1930’s.
As I relate my years in The Porcupine Mining Camp, it strikes me that they most probably unfold as a mirror for many young people who grew up there. For me it was a tough learning ground for what was to come in future years. Life as a budding juvenile delinquent, as well as an early departure from formal education to work in the mines, served to temper the steel and ready me for life on my own.
A boyhood dream took root in pond and road hockey, and grew naturally into a belief that I would become an NHL goalie. That vision would lead me to draw on the resources I accumulated during those formative years.
Readers will not only learn of success and the subsequent glory, but of many missteps, disappointments and adversities encountered while struggling to learn, to listen and eventually to get my life on track.
The hockey saga begins with winning an all-Ontario Juvenile Championship with the South Porcupine Red Wings at the tender age of fourteen, through the rash choice to play in the Junior Ontario Hockey Association (OHA) at age sixteen as a goalie.
The resulting events of that initial OHA experience served to highlight how my decision defied any form of good sense; not so surprising for someone who had not yet learned to listen. Suffering an eye injury, which was partially self-inflicted, then being released and deemed damaged goods by the St. Catharines Teepees, seemed to represent a price that was meant to be paid.
A group of good and caring people in The Porcupine provided me with a second chance; a recycling of sorts. Their actions spoke volumes about the patience and understanding they shared with me. Getting to play again with confidence and without fear—in a strong Senior “A” league—allowed me to once again display skills that were evident prior to the eye injury.
Two of the more enjoyable seasons (1949-50 and 1950-51) were with the storied South Porcupine Porkies. From there I was signed by the New York Rangers and assigned to their farm team, the Vancouver Canucks of the Western Hockey League.
A series of events led me to land on my feet as the number one goalie with the now iconic Penticton Vees. Unknowingly, I became an integral part of an incredible, unlikely journey that took me to the very pinnacle of World Championship hockey.
As the Vees goalie, with the “best seat in the house” game after game (almost 400), I was positioned to clearly observe a cast of young characters that dumbfounded the experts by unexpectedly winning every possible amateur championship in Canada, and eventually the world.
This book reveals personal stories previously untold, about some very colourful hockey people. Also included is my individual perspective of the Penticton Vees’ unlikely climb to World Hockey supremacy. Beyond that, I offer personal reflections that reveal instances of poverty, violence, sadness, adversity, determination, family interactions and humour.
In addition, and most importantly, there is a heart-felt account of one man’s dedication to one woman. A depiction of how a lifetime of love together laid the foundation for a nine-year journey through early stage dementia to the inevitable results of Alzheimer’s, from whence there can be no silver lining.
This book is more than a hockey story, written for the enjoyment and interest of fans.
This book is about life.
~ ~ ~
Possibly at some time in life, you’ve walked the fairways of the Augusta National, cheering a young Arnold Palmer to his first Masters.
Or maybe you were ringside on March 8th, 1971 as Muhammad Ali and Joe Frazier fought fifteen rounds in the “Fight of the Century”.
Or perhaps you watched in awe as Johnny Unitas cut apart a Dallas Cowboy defense to win the Super Bowl for the Baltimore Colts.
Or you were in Maple Leaf Gardens when the Toronto Maple Leaf great, Bill Barilko, scored in overtime to win the 1951 Stanley Cup for Toronto.
These were the finest figures in sports—winning at the highest level. Their brilliant achievements, naturally carving out a place in history, could be described as terrific, pulsating, unbelievable, or fantastic. They had the performance of their lives before exceptionally large crowds.
But wait a moment!
What of a sports spectacle that would attract in excess of 100 million on a single Sunday afternoon? “Impossible!” you say.
Not really. It was the biggest game ever played, anywhere—Canada vs. Russia 1955 World Hockey Championship Game. Not only were most Canadians tuned in to their radios, but people all across Europe, including Russia, listened in to the ultimate “David and Goliath” event.
The game brought the little guy (David), from the small town of Penticton in Western Canada—not favoured to win—face to face with the reigning World Champion (Goliath) from one of the most populated countries in the world, Soviet Russia. Russia occupied many countries whose teams were expected to be subservient and whose fans were fully aware of the underlying oppression. This state of affairs tended to create an expanded interest in the contest—with such an aggressive country as Russia involved.
It would be the most anticipated event in the history of the International Ice Hockey Federation, and March 6, 1955 would become a defining day in Canada’s proud hockey history.
This is the story as told by one of the members of the Penticton Vees, based on the experience from the best seat in the house. I was fortunate enough to be there—in Krefeld, Germany on March 6, 1955—as the Penticton goalie, in “The Biggest Game Ever”.
~ ~ ~
The image stays with me to this day. I believe it always will.
The image of a small room, all in white, adorned with a table and three chairs. Beside the table is a Guerney cook stove with a water container at one end. There was a bed where my parents slept and a crib for my younger sister. I slept on a mattress in a corner of the room on the linoleum-clad floor. I have no recollection of ever being cold in that little room, though the temperature regularly reached twenty-five to thirty degrees below zero on the Fahrenheit scale, during December through mid-March. That image is the first of my young life.
It was 1934, the heart of the Great Depression. My parents had moved to the Porcupine Camp in search of work and hopefully a better life. I was three years of age at the time. When I finally got around to discussing the image of the little white room with my Mother, she readily explained what it was and where it was located.
According to her, my father had a never-ending desire to be on the move. He decided that they would leave his farm-worker job in Campbell’s Bay, Quebec, for the storied Gold Fields of the Porcupine and Timmins area.
When they arrived in the north there were no big money jobs in the mines, as workers from all trades had already flooded in. Only his past experience with cattle resulted in a job caring for a herd of milk cows. They decided it was better than having to return to Quebec, so they put down roots and began a new life in spite of the difficulties ahead.
The truck that brought the McLelland family to South Porcupine (1934).
The image of the little white room is as clear in my mind today as though I had slept there last night. According to my mother’s story, it was nothing more than a converted chicken coup. It had received a major renovation with whitewashed walls and a new linoleum floor, in anticipation of the new employee and his family.
The furniture consisted of a stove, table and chairs, a bed and a crib. All had been brought with us from Quebec. The mattress I would sleep on for some two years was a gift to my parents that arose from the generosity of their new employer, although it had been used by his daughter before going off to school. I do not ever remember not sleeping well in my little corner of the room—the pinnacle of poverty you might say.
Murray Costello was a boyhood friend and fellow road hockey player. We had lived for years in the same neighbourhood. Many years after those meagre times, in discussing our beginnings, Murray commented: “We never quite reached the pinnacle, but perhaps we were close and didn’t realize it because we were all in the same boat.” Murray went on to become President of Hockey Canada.
South Porcupine in the 1930's.
My baby sister, an accomplished schoolteacher, was quite indignant when she first heard the phrase Pinnacle of Poverty. She actually admonished us for the use of such words.
She obviously felt some embarrassment for our family. I fully understand and appreciate her thoughts.
The little white room has come back to my memory many times over the eight decades of life’s experiences. While in my early years I would treat it as an embarrassment, I have since grown to view it as a badge of honour.
Imagine then if you will, a boy of but three rising from a small bed in the corner of a little white room. He would go forward through considerable adversity, but not without joy, to become a Gold Medal winner for Canada at the 1955 Hockey World Championships.
This would be at a time in our country’s history when the Cold War with Russia was prominent. The defeat of the Canadian team at the hands of the Russians in 1954 was a hard pill for Canadians to swallow. Our proud country deemed a victory in 1955 as nothing short of required duty.
Canada did win. The young man from the Porcupine Camp became a hero, and his team became a celebrated part of Canadian hockey history. The little white room begins the story of one boy’s journey to the top of the Hockey World and beyond.
I sincerely hope you will enjoy the journey and the many characters you will get to meet, just as I have enjoyed living it. Most importantly, this is a true story.
Finally, as you read through the chapters ahead, you will frequently note the use of the word “imagine”. It’s fun to use your imagination, and if you can, you will enjoy this story to its fullest.
Imagine the 1940’s and 50’s; how it was back then; and enjoy history.
~ ~ ~
Memories of life on the farm are sketchy for perhaps the next five years. One that stands out though, is an event that took place on a day when my sister and I were playing close to the barn that housed the cows.
A man of significant means owned the farm. He also owned other tracts of land in the surrounding townships. It was evening and milking time, and the owner’s son was attempting to bring the herd in for milking.
Beth and Ivan at the farm.
A lonely straggler, for some reason, would not go through the last gate to the holding area that led to the barn. I vividly recall the angry young man picking up a pitchfork, normally used to feed hay to the milk cows, and driving the sharp forked end well into the backside of the poor animal. My sister began to scream and ran towards our little white home. I remember standing there frozen in my tracks, not believing or understanding what I had just witnessed.
When I went home to let my mother know what had happened, she simply cautioned me and said, “Stay away from that young man, he has a violent temper and even though he is a friend of your father’s, you both should try to avoid him if you can.”
He was, it appears, a drinking companion of my father. These men worked long hours, six days a week. Saturday night they would drink and party. In the winter months they also listened to Foster Hewitt and Hockey Night in Canada from Maple Leaf Gardens. To a man they cheered on their beloved Toronto Maple Leafs.
A reader may wonder why I would include this unpleasant story so seemingly unrelated to my life’s hockey history. Well, the irony of life’s twists and turns comes to light in this instance. Years later the young man and I would meet again but under the most unusual of circumstances.
I was nineteen and the goaltender for the Porcupine Porkies of the Senior “A” Mines League.
The Porkies "Rookie" with my first set of Kenesky goal pads (1949-50).
We had won our league, and had earned the dubious right to move forward and challenge the North Bay Trappers. That series would decide the winner of the Northern Ontario area and the right to move forward in Allan Cup play.
The trappers were coached by Pete Palangio, a hockey legend in the North and storied NHL player. North Bay was favoured to win the best of five series. The North Bay Daily Paper billed the series as a “Barn Burner”. Perhaps it was billed that way because the arena in South Porcupine was affectionately named “The Barn”. Both arenas were sold out for the first three games.
Both arenas were sold out for the first three games, which meant that tickets for games four and five would be sold at a premium. As it turned out, the series went to a fifth game. All four previous games had been decided by a one-goal margin. The Porkies had surprised everyone! A front-page article in the North Bay paper read: “The South Porcupine Porkies have relied heavily on the exceptional play of their young goalie, which has become the surprising star of the series. He has been both exceptional and lucky. We predict the luck will run out tonight and the Trappers will move on to further play tomorrow in their quest for the Allan Cup.”
On the afternoon prior to the deciding game, a team meeting and pregame meal was called for 2 p.m. in a private room in the hotel. The meeting proved to be short with very little input from any of the players. I said nothing. A hungry but tense group devoured the usual steak dinner, and the meeting was over. Players left for their rooms for an afternoon rest. Departure time was 6 p.m. sharp and it was a short twenty-minute ride to the arena. This was the biggest, most important game to this point in my young life.
Two players, except for the goalie, shared rooms. He had his own, private space. Goalies were different, everyone in hockey acknowledged this, and made allowances for that fact. Over the years they had attracted names like quirky, flakey, temperamental, moody, difficult, and by all means different. I have always, and to this very day, considered the goaltending fraternity to be unique.
I went to my room and settled in for what I hoped would be a quiet time before the storm. Even a little shuteye was welcome, as it was always prescribed for a goalie’s pregame routine. Just slipping into a deep sleep, I thought I heard a knock at my door. At first I ignored it, then without mistake I heard it again. I remember saying, “Just a minute,” annoyed by the thought that someone would disturb me at a time like this. How could they be so rude and thoughtless? When I opened the door, there before me was this beautiful young woman. I was shocked!
“Well, aren’t you going to invite me in?” was what I heard. I wasn’t able to respond very quickly. I do not remember my exact reply but it was obviously in the form of an invitation.
We had been friends for some time. We had even dated a few times but had gone separate ways. Perhaps I thought of her as too young, as I was now nineteen and becoming “A Man of the World”, at least in my mind. No matter, this day she was clearly a beauty and she had come on her own to my room to spend time with me. The only word I can find to describe our time together that afternoon was wonderful. It would be without a doubt every young man’s dream.
She left at about 5 p.m. saying, “Have a good game. I’ll be there with friends! Oh, and Ivan, good luck!” Then she was gone.
The team bus left the hotel at 6 o’clock sharp and no one was talking. A feeling of guilt had crept over me since being left alone in my room. My head was swimming when she left and it hadn’t quite stopped as I stepped onto the bus. Imagine the feeling, knowing I had not rested, and had not in the slightest focused my thoughts on the game to come. How could I? As a goalie I had done nothing right, and as I entered the opposing team’s arena I was somewhat confused. Quietly dressing, I spoke to no one. I went onto the ice to a capacity crowd of North Bay fans and promptly at 8 p.m. watched the puck drop.
An article headlined next morning in the Timmins Daily Press, March 13, 1951:
Once again, Ivan McLelland came up with an outstanding performance. In the third and final period with the score tied at two goals apiece, he stopped Ralph Orlando, Bo Elik and Chick Chicchina all alone and at point blank range. At the 18.26 mark of the third period the Porkies’ Terry Talentino took a tripping penalty. The Trappers pulled their goalie and stormed the Porkies net. The young goalie coolly handled a number of good scoring chances as though it was all in a night’s work. Porkies hung on to the win!
Oh, and by the way, the final score at the 20-minute mark of the third period was Porkies 3 North Bay 2. It was a truly outstanding victory by a team that was not favoured. Congratulations Porkies.
When the celebration finally subsided and the realization of our win had begun to set in, I sat alone in my corner of the dressing room. I couldn’t help but breathe a huge sigh of relief.
Pregame, I had done nothing right. But not to matter as the evening for me was a huge success. Quietly I said to myself, “You got way more than you deserved.”
After the game the veteran players loaded the team bus with refreshments in preparation for the long six-hour trip through the night, home to the Porcupine. We stopped at a café about two blocks away from the arena where sandwiches were waiting. The bus pulled directly in front of the café door and some of our people: the coach, the team trainer and manager got out to get the food. I decided to go in and get myself some pop and possibly a pint of milk to have with the sandwiches I had ordered. On the way out I accidentally brushed against a rather large fellow. I couldn’t help but notice he'd had much too much to drink.
I was by now outside and moving towards the bus when I was unceremoniously spun around. The big guy was in my face yelling, “Are you the little shit that just beat my team?”
“Yes I am,” I replied. I was probably a little too confident for his liking. Suddenly and without warning, I was thrust with some considerable force against a wall. With no chance to defend myself, the man threw a punch that was clearly meant to do damage.
The same reflexes that had stood me in good stead earlier in the evening allowed me to move quickly. Fortunately, the blow glanced off my jaw. With my adrenaline pumping and in full survival mode I had completely abandoned the pop bottles and the pint of milk. They fell to the sidewalk, shattering into small pieces and spilling to the door of the waiting bus.
And then it happened.
With the same suddenness that I had been attacked, my assailant was overpowered by a wild and angry force. That hulk of a man was shouting, “Don’t you touch my kid!” What ensued in the next few minutes was not a pretty sight to see.
The North Bay fan absorbed a terrible beating. As the onslaught continued I was escorted to the bus door by the team trainer. I looked back to see the poor man lying on the sidewalk, a bloody and beaten mess.
As sirens began to wail, our team trainer whispered: “Let’s get out of here. We don’t want to be a part of this.” The bus door closed and we were on our way. That particular incident was not one that a person can just drive away from. It will always be with me.
My saviour was the same young farmhand who had wrongfully forced a milking cow through a gate some fifteen years earlier. What are the odds? He was still living life with the throttle wide open and had appeared at the most opportune moment.
I discovered years later he spent that night in jail. His defense in the morning was that he was simply defending his kid; a boy who had grown up on his farm and in his neighbourhood. He had claimed “self-defense” for me. He was fined $50 and told not to come back to North Bay for one year.
As the black and orange Dalton Bus laboured its way up the long hill out of North Bay, I tested my luck one last time with the bus driver, “George, would you mind stopping at the general store, on the left, at the top of the hill?”
“What for?” he asked, not looking away from the road.
“I need to get a pint of milk to have with my sandwiches.”
“Who the hell drinks milk on this bus?”
“I do,” I replied.
He turned to me without a smile, “Kid, the way you played tonight, you can stop anywhere you want and drink anything you like! I suppose if the police want us for anything, they won’t have any problem catching us anyway,” as though having to justify his decision to stop for milk.
Sometime later, as the celebration subsided and the lights went out, I tried with no success to settle down and get some sleep. Sleeping on the straight, hard seats of the school bus was usually futile. However, at this point I was surrendering to the mental and physical exertion of the day. I was at least going to try to sleep.
I had just lived a life memory. I sat running through the events of the day: the team meeting to which I had contributed nothing; the wonderful afternoon with an exciting young woman; the awful guilty feeling of not preparing for the game as I should have. Then the game in which I lucked out and got better than I deserved. I did in fact dodge a bullet!
Before I fell asleep, I came to realize how thankful I was for my unlikely saviour: the man my mother had told me to avoid as much as possible. I remember thinking: “I did Mother, until tonight.”
When I awakened we were home in the Porcupine.
~ ~ ~
It was a warm sunny morning and perfect weather for a move. Some men from the farm where my father worked had agreed to help move a house. The move was to be relocated from farm property to a lot on Cecil Avenue, in South Porcupine, Ontario. The vacant lot was about four city blocks from the rural property.
Everyone in the community was excited. Rows of children sat on wooden sidewalks awaiting a small bulldozer and a house that would soon come down the middle of the street. With any luck the house would be lodged in its new surroundings without incident. There was great excitement and even a few cheers as the cat turned the corner and began its trek up the slight incline.
Let me digress for a moment. One of the men helping my father that day was a farm worker. He had befriended me and was a fellow I cared for… a lot. His duties included milking the cows. Fond memories of being allowed to go to the barn at milking time are easy for me to bring forward and enjoy. He would usually, but not always, have a treat in his shirt pocket.
When I reached in to get it, he would tilt the animal’s teat to the side and aim it directly at me. Instantly, my face would be covered with warm milk. I can’t believe to this day how many times I would get caught reaching for a candy! I have been blessed with heart-warming memories of this very thoughtful, gentle soul.
He was injured that day. He tragically fell from the roof as the home passed under wires that were carelessly left too low. Fortunately for me and all of the children perched on the wooden sidewalk, he was on the opposite side of the building when he fell. He was hit by a charge of electricity and died two days later in the hospital.
Looking back, that incident represented an ironic twist of fate from my perspective. This generous man, that I admired so much, had paid the ultimate price while helping to move my family’s new home. It was more devastating than I realized at the time. I had experienced the loss of a role model at a young age. The impact of that event has rippled forward to this day. Years later I had the good fortune to learn of his last name, but have still been unable to locate his burial place. It has become a goal of mine to ensure that his resting place is suitably marked and attended to.
Our family moved to the new location two weeks after that fateful day. The house was an old, uninhabited farmhouse that was primitive and in questionable condition at best. We finally had water and electricity but had to live with an outdoor toilet for about one year. Even though my family’s living conditions had improved, my feelings were mixed.
When the family moved into that costly house during the early 1940’s, my parents had four children. Assimilation into the new neighbourhood made our lives much like those of the other families in the mining community. Uneventful perhaps, but in looking back they were the years I began acting out. I was then in my early teens with no real supervision. Mother’s time was taken up with a three-room house and a new child arriving each year.
Our father was not around much as he worked away in bush camps, where pay was greater than what the local jobs had to offer. Many women reading this book could not begin to imagine the life our mother led. She worked from early morning until late each evening to feed, clothe and direct a growing clan.
I suppose in retrospect I may have taken advantage of the situation and began to do my own thing, which was not good. We formed a small group. Each of us received little supervision at home and soon found ourselves breaking and entering, stealing from the local bakery and much more.
After what could be described as a two- or three-year spree of unsavoury activity, we finally went too far and found ourselves in front of a judge. For all of our nonsense we luckily received just an eighteen-month probationary sentence. I was required to report to the judge’s office each Friday after school with a note from the Vice Principal outlining my activities and behaviour from the previous week. My life of crime ended with that experience. To this day, I wonder how much influence my role model might have had on that portion of my life.
It’s worth noting that one of the members of our group—which today would be referred to as a “gang”—decided to use our antics as a basis for more serious criminal activity. His path led directly to the British Columbia Penitentiary. His long record of crime was capped off by a very serious criminal event that resulted in years in custody.
Our family left the house in South Porcupine in 1951 for the Ottawa area. I didn’t go with them. Being the eldest of thirteen children, it seemed an appropriate time to leave home. I set out for Vancouver with a dream of becoming a professional hockey goalie.
I did not see my family again for four years. Within the next year I had the dubious honour of becoming the eldest of fourteen children, and fortunately there were no more to come after that.
Today, I am pleased to say, “I am the eldest of a family of fourteen and amazingly, we have done our mother proud.”
With World War II coming to an end, I entered into a new, more positive phase. Thankfully, sports gained a foothold amidst the turmoil.
~ ~ ~
Readers may have noticed in the early chapters, that I have mentioned my mother on more than one occasion. I have not done this to promote my mother because, let’s face it; we all have a mother! Rather, I would like the readers to have a sense of how truly amazing this woman was.
To have born fourteen children, perhaps four in a hospital, the remainder at a three-room house on Cecil Avenue, is in itself a remarkable achievement. To have insured that each day they went to school with clean clothes and were well nourished, boggles the mind.
In this day, we know the difficulties that arise raising two children. Let your imagination take hold and think for a moment of having twelve more. It happened, and I was there for nineteen years of her trials and never-ending work. Like the others in our household I must confess, I thought it was the norm. Of course, like the others following behind me in the pecking order, we quite simply did not understand what she was living through.
This amazing woman made a home; with her strength, dedication and hard work, she lived to see most of her children raised and able to go forward, having the kind of life they desired.
I have referred to her as a woman rather than a lady, which would be my preference. I will always believe she would have been, could have been, a “lady” (i.e., a lady of superior social status, refined manners, etc.) had she chosen differently regarding the man she would spend her married life with. Given another choice, I have no doubt she would have suited the life of a lady quite well.
The Amazing Lady, Bertha Mary Brown, at sixteen years old with her nephew Manson Brown (1925).
As a young woman living in the home of her parents, she enjoyed a formal education, musical training and many of the amenities that money would provide at that time. Possessing a natural talent for working with horses, Bertha was an accomplished equestrian manager. In addition, she was very attractive and had many potential suitors.
Add to this the fact that her father held a tight rein on her and her mother had made it clear that she wanted her to marry well. Why then did she decide on an itinerant farm worker?
“He is nothing more than a drifter. He will break your heart and you will live a life of sorrow,” her father told her in plain language. “If you do this, it will be against my will and your mother’s better judgment,” he added. “So think long and hard as you may lose your family.”
I learned about this conversation during a three-day visit with my mother just a short time before she passed. I took the occasion to ask questions about her early life, and I received answers to some questions while to others she simply said, “I don’t want to talk about that.” I respected her reaction and moved on to something she would find more agreeable. It was the last time we were to visit. I gave her a hug, which she did not accept comfortably, and said, “Bye, Mom.” Looking back, I wished I had said, “I love you.”
On October 25, 1929 in the city of Ottawa, Bertha Mary Brown married Harold McLelland. Bertha was twenty years of age.
At one point I was told by my favourite aunt, “Your mother looked absolutely beautiful.” And then, because of my aunt’s feisty nature and personality, she couldn’t help but add, “I told everyone that I hoped he knew how lucky he was. Oh well, what the hell,” she added with obvious regret.
On March 15, 1931 in Campbell’s Bay, Quebec, Bertha McLelland delivered the first of fourteen children into this world.
The time lapse between the wedding and the first child was eventful, and not always happy. My father was doing more than his share of drinking, and on more than one occasion came home bloodied from a fight at the local bar. I was told that he never ever won a fight but would continue to go back for more. Perhaps his “Irish temper”, so evident throughout his entire life, got the better of his judgment?
About that time, rumours of riches began to circulate from Timmins, Ontario. Word was they were simply there for the taking for those that found their way to the Timmins area. The family decided to go north.
My mother’s brother Willie was one of the few family members that did not disown her. He helped them load their worldly possessions in the back of his Model T Ford truck, and in three long days delivered them to South Porcupine, Ontario. He apparently wished them well in their new life and was gone. They soon learned that gold and riches were not easily found in the Porcupine Camp.
We found ourselves in the midst of the war years. Our father attempted to enlist for active duty, but was rejected due to the size of his family. The recruiting officer said he was needed more at home.
Within a short time he reported to an office in another town and was accepted into the reserve force. He was then required to attend an eight-week training course somewhere in Southern Ontario each year. His time away was a relief for my mother. His drinking parties had become more frequent, and his arrival home late at night was not at all pleasant for Mother or for me at that early age. I was perhaps twelve at that time, and remember it as being frightening.
We lived as others in our community, until one day the radio and newspapers heralded the end of the war with Germany. Within a few weeks a major event took place. It was a parade with fire trucks down the main street of town. There were two marching bands and a contingent of soldiers; some back from service and some reservists. A huge party followed, which lasted for a few days. It was one that I recall so very well.
Our father, as a reserve member, took an active role in the celebrations. Unfortunately, it happened just as he picked up his two-week paycheque from his job at the Township. When he arrived home a few days later, his money was gone and my mother was at her wits’ end. Mother by now had ten children to feed and clothe.
My life, prior to this point, had so very little direction. The small amount that I did encounter was received only as a result of my time at school. Fortunately, this path suddenly changed direction.
Some of the men who had returned from the war went back to work at the mines. More importantly, they created sports programs including baseball during the summer and organized hockey for our first real hockey season.
Among those men returning was a very special individual, Carlo Cattarello. He would become a huge influence in my life and in the lives of many other children, both boys and girls.
My whole life changed suddenly as I found myself working hard to be a hockey player on one of Carlo’s teams, the South Porcupine Kiwanis Red Wings. I should add to the story that Carlo required good effort from every player. This included our time at school as well as on the ice. He made a point of regularly meeting with Vice Principal Mr. Bob Ship to ensure his players’ efforts were acceptable.
It was an amazing transformation as school marks improved. Mine soared to B+ and even some A’s as well. Upon reflection, it was an example of the power of positive sport and the results that it can lead to. Too bad something like that couldn’t be more pervasive today. I realize of course it is old school thinking and in today’s world would be infringing on an individual’s rights.
Oh well, it worked for me and thank goodness.
Positive guidance through sports was the key factor that led to a major turn around for me. It naturally and effectively led me to reassess and improve my life. Over the years I have thought about how things may have been different if it hadn’t been for my mentor, Carlo Cattarello, and his innate ability to give.
~ ~ ~
A move to the new neighbourhood on Cecil Street offered an opportunity for me. On the farm there were no friends. In South Porcupine I was a little younger, and a bit smaller than most of the kids in the area, but they soon accepted me.
You see, I wanted to be “the goalie”. I wanted to be Turk Broda, the great Toronto Maple Leaf goalie; one of the greatest money players of all time. Frankie Brimsek was also an idol. He was the Boston Bruins goalie at that time, and was a recognized star for many years.
Mother would buy #10 tins of Bee Hive corn syrup. From those tins I would take the label, include ten cents for handling and write away for a coloured photo of my favourite NHL idols (Broda and Brimsek). A stamp at that time was two cents. The empty cans were later filled with chunks of coal and became goal posts for Saturday or Sunday marathon games.
Even well before the crisp, cold days of winter, we just couldn’t wait. We played hockey in a friend’s driveway, and the up and coming snipers used the new kid as a target to hone their shooting skills. A garage door was the net. Looking back, I would stand against that garage for hours with just a goal stick given to me by Alex Brownlee of the Hollinger Greenshirts. I also used a well-used baseball trapper discarded by a first baseman from a previous era.
I did not have the luxury of a face guard or an athletic protector to ensure that some very tender areas of a young man were not injured. It was a dangerous and silly thing to do, and as I look back it’s amazing I was not hurt.
I was slowly gaining a reputation as a tough kid with an amazing glove hand. The prime requirement to be a goaltender at that time was to be tough. A number of years ago an interesting book entitled Without Fear was published with commentary by the Hall of Famer, Johnny Bower. He spoke to the need for a goaltender to have mental toughness and no fear of flying pucks—ever.
Meticulously, and with a significant level of passion, I played countless games of outdoor hockey. I recall facing shooters of all varieties. I was thrilled to stand my ground against those garage doors. Add to this the school games, and eventually the best Juvenile hockey in Ontario, and it could be considered miraculous that I was never seriously hurt. That was to come later. As time went by, I developed an amazing ability to use the glove hand. But what would drive a young man to play “The Game” with gear that was less than safe? I look back and am unable to understand.
Gradually, I became "one of the guys" and went on to play for the South Porcupine Red Wings; something every boy in that small town dreamt of doing. While it was me making the saves, in my mind it was actually visions of Turk Broda or Frank Brimsek standing tall. The natural extension of my visualization involved an NHL scout being in the building or at the outdoor rink. He would someday approach me and ask me to come to camp for a try out. My dream!
The highlight of Saturday nights was to huddle around a radio with teammates at a friend’s house and listen to the Boston Bruins play the Toronto Maple Leafs. Frank Brimsek against Turk Broda. I just knew I was going to be like one of them, someday.
To relate something of interest, just four years after my garage door experiences I would find myself at a Boston Bruins training camp with the great Frank Brimsek at the opposite end of the ice. Could the power of believing have been a factor? Go figure!
Magically, the process of visualization would bear fruit in different ways. While in St. Catharines for training camp, I had the unlikely opportunity to play a game of pool with my boyhood idol, the great Turk Broda. The Toronto Maple Leafs happened to be there for a preseason game with Boston and Turk loved to play pool in his spare time. I wanted so badly to tell him about the Bee Hive corn syrup pictures but decided it wouldn’t be cool! I was growing up. Knowing what I know now, it would have been a very cool thing to do.
Those who have followed hockey, perhaps for a lifetime, and even those who follow the game today, will understand that early on in the game’s history, the NHL consisted of only six teams. Two of those teams were proudly Canadian. The two Canadian teams scouted the Ontario Junior hockey league constantly as their main sources of players. The Ontario Junior “A” teams in turn looked to Juvenile Hockey in Ontario, Quebec and the Prairie Provinces for their supply of young hockey talent. British Columbia, unlike today, was not a major player in hockey talent.
Each NHL team carried a roster of fifteen players consisting of three forward lines, four defensemen, one “floating player”, who could fill in at forward or defense, and one goalie playing a full sixty or seventy game schedule. Oh, and as a matter of interest, until Jacque Plant came forward in 1958 with the first face guard, the goalie played with no facial protection. That, very possibly, was the basis for the prerequisite of toughness that each goalie must bring to “The Game”.
The backup goaltender for NHL teams could usually be brought up from the American Hockey League in the event of a serious injury to the starter. NHL owners would cite costs as being simply too high to enjoy the luxury of carrying two goalies! With six teams carrying fifteen players on each roster, there were ninety jobs available at the top level of hockey, six of which were goalies. I would like to stress the number “six” in order to emphasize how distant and far-fetched a young boy’s dream appeared with regard to reaching the goal of being an NHL goalie.
Nonetheless, like all dreams, it was at least possible. To begin, however, you must first land a spot on the roster of a top flight Juvenile team. This meant that you would be noticed, scouted and placed on a Junior “A” teams negotiation list.
When I received notice from Coach Cattarello that I had made the number one spot on the South Porcupine Red Wings (Juvenile team), I calmly thanked him and quietly walked away.
When I got around the corner of “The Barn” (arena) I yelled, “YESSSS!!!” I just knew I was on my way.
South Porcupine Red Wings (1946-47), the first year with Carlo Cattarello, Sr. with Mickey Dillon's goal pads.
~ ~ ~
Life growing up in Northern Ontario was much different than today. I believe that in the 1940’s and 1950’s life was more relaxed, more fluid and more fun.
As children we would play outdoors from morning until night. There were no coaches and little supervision. Mother would call us in when dinner hour arrived and we returned to hockey immediately following our evening meal. Our mother was then known as a “housewife” and to me, always seemed to be there. She was always at home.
Few worked outside the home; generally speaking, the husbands’ earnings were sufficient to ensure a comfortable life from the standpoint of the average individual. A holiday to Europe or Hawaii was out of the question, and a trip to Grandma’s farm was a highlight of the summer.
A couple of generations were fortunate enough to experience a simpler time, and all of the advantages that went with it. We could play road hockey all day during the winter months, and rarely have to move aside for a vehicle.
Healthcare was difficult at that time. I am reminded of the loss of a beautiful teenage sister Sandra. Today her case would be easily dealt with using routine therapies and procedures.
I was the eldest of fourteen children. Families of six, eight, or ten were not uncommon. Condoms were available, but would be found only in the back room of your friendly pharmacy. It was not acceptable to display them for all to see, as is the case today. If you lived in a small town and your local pharmacist was a member of a certain faith, there was no way he would sell, let alone display, any item that promoted birth control.
However, your always-resourceful pool hall operator usually came to the rescue for that fellow in need. He would be expected to charge “bootleg prices”, but guys knew he was discreet and would never tell. Frank, the local pool hall operator, had no problem making that item available, and was not at all concerned about being judged in the community for his actions.
Folks had more time, as life was slower, softer and easier. People seemed to take that extra time to connect with, and relate to, one another. The accumulation of “things” didn’t seem to be a priority; people were. Friday night would often involve two or more families getting together. The ladies enjoyed tea, coffee and fresh baked goods. The kids played outside, while the men discretely shared a few drinks of homemade wine or whisky over a good cigar.
Speaking of smoking, it was in many ways considered the “in thing to do.” Young people today would term it “cool”. At that time in our history tobacco companies produced attractive, small packages of ten cigarettes at the unheard of price of twenty-five cents. Most kids could find a way to get their hands on twenty-five cents, so they were introduced to cigarettes at a very early age. I believe I first tried smoking at about twelve years old. I became sick to my stomach, dizzy, and didn’t feel at all well for a few days. A lesson learned until later in life!
Most people had very little, and no one seemed to notice, or for that matter care, as most everyone was in the same situation. Of course, as is always the case there were a few “elite” people in each community; professionals, mine officials, etc. were in the minority and generally lived within their own circles.
Television had not yet been invented, so people enjoyed their favourite radio shows like John & Judy, The Green Hornet, and The Evening News. However, the program with the largest audiences by far was Saturday night’s Hockey Night in Canada with Foster Hewitt calling the play by play, and the always listened to Hot Stove League.
People waited all week in anticipation of that Canadian tradition. That show has, of course, continued with Ron MacLean hosting his regular panel and guests each Saturday night. What we didn’t have was a colourful equivalent of Don Cherry. Would he have been as effective on radio? Who knows? I believe he would have livened up the Old Hot Stove League.
I have mentioned the word “imagination” on a number of occasions so far. To enjoy radio as we did, required great imagination. After all, we knew of nothing else. Later in this book I will relate a story of 1.5 million radios, on a Sunday morning, that were simultaneously tuned in to the same hockey game. Canada’s dream team faced off against the dreaded Russians in Krefeld, Germany. The power of radio!
At that time in history, we experienced hockey as a “catalyst”, to say the least. As a result of this magnificent game, we played, we listened, and we came together and connected as communities, all across our great country. Hockey had a way of lifting our spirits.
It was in that environment that a young boy was beginning to live out his dream of becoming an NHL goaltender. The path ahead would be his own “Yellow Brick Road”.
The South Porcupine road hockey gang at the Dalton bus (1948-49).
~ ~ ~
It’s Saturday night at “THE BARN”. The old arena is almost full. It is opening game of the season. The South Porcupine Red Wings are facing off against the dreaded Timmins Lions. As the larger of the two communities, Timmins had more prospects to choose from and always iced a very strong team.
The Porcupine team may be at a disadvantage early in the season. They have chosen to go with a fourteen-year-old untested goalie to begin the twenty-five game juvenile season. Most of the boys playing are seventeen and eighteen year olds, with a few sixteen year olds as alternate players.
The game, for the young goaltender, will be his first in organized hockey. Up to that point he had starred in school hockey, pond hockey and road hockey. When the game ended, the Red Wings had won by a score of 6 goals to 5. The local sports writer used the word “adequate” to describe the play of the rookie goalie.
This was indicative of the way the initial part of his season unfolded. However, as the team approached the end of the season, he was playing well, had rounded into form, had earned a number of shutouts and had lowered his goals-against average considerably.
The South Porcupine Red Wings placed second in the league standings, and finally won the league title in a two game total goals playoff. Their Championship win was attributed to their goal scoring ability. The goaltending was sufficient but not of the outstanding variety… at least it was not at the level where it could be considered a factor in the series.
A series with Kirkland Lake was next on their schedule. The Red Wings won handily in another two game total goals series.
During the second and final game in Kirkland Lake, the fourteen year old sustained his first injury. It was a cut under the chin caused by a deflection, and stitches were required. He proudly demonstrated his toughness by finishing the game before receiving repairs.
It was Bert Lindsay who accompanied the boy to the hospital. Lindsay had been a prominent goaltender with the Renfrew Millionaires, of Canadian hockey fame, during the 1930’s. What an honour it was for the rookie to spend time with such an icon!
I was that fourteen-year-old goalie and it was my first cut. It required ten stitches. On our way back to the arena Mr. Lindsay told me, “Ivan, you are now officially a member of the goalie fraternity.”
Looking back, that was one of those life moments that comes out of nowhere and has a lasting effect. In that instant, I had a definite feeling of pride and sensed for the first time I was on a very special path. What made that encounter so unique was the fact that Bert Lindsay was the father of Ted Lindsay of the Detroit Red Wings, the all-time great Hall of Famer. What are the odds?
Those first stitches led to a positive, memorable encounter. Unfortunately, the same could not be said for the many stitches to follow. With the goalie face protector not yet in vogue, facial injuries were considered to be a part of the game; an occupational hazard, so to speak.
Next up on the Porcupine Red Wings’ agenda was the Northern Juvenile Championship. The Sault Ste. Marie Canadians from the Lake Head area would be in town the next weekend for the best two out of three series. These were the two best juvenile teams in the North. The region’s best young hockey players happened to come from these two organizations. The winners would face off the following weekend with the winners of Southern Ontario. Heady stuff for a fourteen year old.
The Northern Championship games were played at the “Mac” arena. It was billed as a “miniature Maple Leaf Gardens”. It would hold at least a thousand more fans than the Red Wings’ home ice facility, “The Barn”. The first two games were sold out in days with standing room only available to other hopeful fans.
The Red Wings won the first game, 7-6 and took the second game 9-3. Cy Copps, sports editor of the Timmins Daily Press, wrote “Ivan McLelland, the Red Wings’ rookie goalie, had a field day looking cool and poised as the visitors parried their shots at him during the entire third period of the first game, trying to tie, and the first two periods of the second game. The games speak well for his ability, and his prospects as an up and coming goalie . . .. He has one of the fastest glove hands we have witnessed in years watching hockey!”
My personal sense was it had been a “good” effort but not “great”!
Winning in the North meant facing the St. Catharines Lions for all the marbles. With this challenge came the rare opportunity to be seen by every NHL scout in the hockey business. To name a few, Baldy Cotton (head scout Boston Bruins), Bob Davidson (head scout Toronto Maple Leafs), and Bun Cook (scout for Cleveland Barons of the AHL) were there. Also, the scouts for the St. Mikes Majors, Toronto Marlboros and Barrie Flyers of the Junior OHA Memorial Cup teams were all in attendance.
The series was won in two games as the South Porcupine Reds proved themselves the Best Juvenile Hockey team in Ontario. Scouts rated them either #1 or #2 in all of Canada. An outstanding season came to a close. It was a major honour for a small community to enjoy.
Looking back and giving thought to what took place, I would have to believe that an exceptionally talented team carried a rookie goalie along for an amazing experience. That team was comprised of future Junior “A” stars, some of whom actually headed to the NHL. Ten of the fifteen players from the team were promoted to Junior OHA teams with five of those moving to the NHL within three years.
After that incredible life experience I found it difficult to focus on school. After completing that particular school year I especially enjoyed being able to channel my energies into a full summer of baseball with Coach Carlo’s Junior Combines. It was a passion that provided balance in my life, at that time. In addition, I worked at my first real job, at the South Porcupine mine as a member of the “Bull Gang”. I think the name itself, gives a clear indication of the type of work involved. It was very hard, physical labour and I was determined to use it to my advantage to improve my body strength. That, combined with an improved diet, resulted in the added bonus of gaining twelve pounds of muscle.
With some of the money earned that summer, I purchased my first “goalie trapper” which was a special glove designed specifically for goaltenders. Finally, I would be able to “show off” the glove hand that I had worked so long to develop during my road hockey and garage door days; not to mention the time enjoyed playing baseball. I should comment hence that goalies today would smile, perhaps with disbelief, looking at what I thought was a piece of state of the art equipment. The glove was, however, very efficient and stayed with me until I concluded my career some ten years down the road.
"THE BARN" Arena. (photo credit Chris Hacquard)
~ ~ ~
When try-outs began in September there were six goalies trying out for two positions, and over thirty players vying for fourteen spots on forward and defense. After two weeks a team was chosen to wear the colours of the South Porcupine Red Wings. It was a real honour for a new group of boys, mostly sixteen, seventeen and eighteen years of age.
I made the team as number one goalie with “Chic” Monteleone as my back up. I should point out that Chic’s main claim to fame was not as a hockey goalie, but rather as the most devastating open field tackler in high school football—anywhere. He was deadly!
That particular season was, quite simply, a success! The team won games against opposition from Kirkland Lake, Timmins, Schumacher and Iroquois Falls. We ended the regular schedule with but a few losses.
My game improved over the course of the season and by playoff time I was beginning to believe that “if I could see it, I could stop it”. The self-confidence in my game had reached a new level. Looking back, I also believe that my hat size had grown more than it should have for a sixteen year old!
Articles in various papers throughout the north were referring to me as a “sure fire success at the Junior 'A' level, within a year”. This was despite my age.
It was during that magical sixteenth year that I was also placed on the Boston Bruins’ negotiation list. That honour would, in turn, create the opportunity to play for the OHA’s St. Catharines Junior "A" farm team.
The team, though young compared to some we would meet in the North, played well. As a result, we soon found ourselves travelling south to meet the St. Catharines Lions in the Ontario Championship series, for the second year in a row.
The Lions were virtually the same team that the Red Wings had defeated the previous year. They had not lost players as a result of age. We were required to meet them in their backyard this time. They were focused on seeking revenge and capturing the Ontario Juvenile Championship.
The train trip from Northern Ontario was lengthy. Most of the team experienced for the first time, sleeping in a birth while the train traveled through the night. We arrived in the southern city to flashbulbs, reporters and radio personalities from all over the Niagara Peninsula. We worked out before a crowd of approximately 1,500, something we were not accustomed to in our little community.
The series was a best two out of three games. All games were sold out, with the only available admission left being standing room.
We won the first game 5-3, with the fifth goal being scored on an empty net. An article appearing in the St. Catharine’s paper the next morning read, and I quote, “Goaltending for the Northerners was nothing short of spectacular as Ivan McLelland stopped almost everything that came his way. If he continues to play in that fashion St. Kitts is in trouble.”
As it turned out, I did continue to play well, but in the second tilt they finally got to us. They won the game by one goal, and it was scored close to the end of the contest. A tough one to lose!
In the third and final game, by all accounts, I had played the best game of my young life. In the final moments with our team tired and playing a man short, Jim Maxwell, their leading scorer, banked one in off of one of our defensemen to win the game 5 goals to 4.
The loss was devastating and the first real emotional experience I would have as a young athlete. I recall sitting in our dressing room in tears for some time before changing. A lesson in life had come my way: losing is part of growing!
Rex Stimers, the radio voice of the Niagara Peninsula, broadcast all of the games. He was well known as an excitable, interesting, and colourful personality. As part of the coverage of the post-game he was heard to comment at the closing of his broadcast, perhaps with slight embellishment: “This young goalie is an absolute iceberg. He handled well over 120 difficult shots during the three game event with relative ease; at times under extreme pressure. He looked like he was enjoying himself! He is as good as I can recall seeing in this building, and I hope he is back with our Junior 'A' team next year.”
The train ride back to Northern Ontario was quiet and uneventful. It was by now mid-April and talk of the upcoming baseball season became the number one topic of conversation. Kids don’t dwell on setbacks for very long!
Upon arrival home, Mother handed me a personal telegram. I had never received a telegram before, and it seemed to me quite an honour. It was from the Boston Bruins, advising me that I was on their negotiation list and would be receiving an invitation to attend training camp in St. Catharines in September. It also mentioned that an official from the St. Kitts Junior “A” organization would be in touch with me in the near future.
About a week later an article appeared in the local Daily Press that read as follows:
Bruins send their Cubs in an effort to give the Niagara Area hockey fans the very best available, in an agreement that has been reached with Arthur Ross, General Manager of the Boston Bruins of the NHL, whereby the Bruins would place for selection in St. Catharines all players of Junior age on their reserve list.
Three young hopefuls, some of Canada’s finest junior hockey players, are being watched closely, as they are potential professional stars and many will in the future grace the roster of the NHL.
I happened to be included in that group of hopefuls. Suddenly, I had been vaulted into the company of a rather select few.
~ ~ ~
Arriving back from Southern Ontario, I was advised by my father not to plan anything for the next three weekends. Each year in early spring, as soon as the woods were free of snow, we would be required to cut three truckloads of poplar wood. Poplar was not great firewood, but it was free for the taking so it became a necessity for our winter warmth. We used wood and coal to keep the house comfortable. I knew the yearly ritual as I had been doing it since about twelve years of age.
At first, I recall it as a fun experience but as each year went by, it became nothing more than hard work. I recognized it as an opportunity to become closer to my father. Riding in the old Maple Leaf flat deck truck and limbing the trees he had fallen, allowed me to spend time with him. However, he rarely spoke during the course of the day other than to tell me to stay out of his way. I would eat lunch by myself and he would eat while he worked. That was as good as it got.
My work on the mine “bull gang” each summer resulted in some unexpected recognition. The foreman on that crew was Nick. I never knew his last name, but I did know he was Finnish and very, very strong. He had been an underground contract miner who was now inflicted with silicosis, a deadly lung disease. He was completing his working life “on the surface”. Nick was a serious hockey fan, he rarely missed a juvenile or Senior "A" game. He had three passions: his beer, his hockey, and his sauna.
It was one of his last days of work and Nick made a point of coming over to me as I was cleaning up. He said, “Here kid, just wanted you to have this.” He then handed me his axe.
To a Finnish woodsman, his axe held a special status. It was probably one of the most important items in his world; it could make the difference between a good day and a bad one. I noticed this particular axe was not too heavy; it was well balanced and always razor sharp.
He caught me off guard and I wasn’t sure what to say so I just tried to thank him, but he turned and walked away simply saying, “Take care of it!”
The same year that I had received Nick’s axe I turned sixteen. At that age I didn’t fully understand how the quality of an axe could make such a difference. It didn’t take long though, to realize how useful it was to work with the best possible axe. Add to this the fact that over the years I had become more proficient at falling a tree, limbing it, and helping place it on the truck.
Those skills, in combination with Nick’s gift, put me in a position where I actually found myself competing with my father. It was an unofficial competition, and no words had to be spoken to know that we were working to see who could cut and limb the most trees. I had become quite strong, moved quickly and was equal to my father with regard to the number of trees we would stack on the deck of the old Maple Leaf.
We would work through a full, long day, rarely speaking and then only when loading or unloading the vehicle. The three weekends went by without a hitch and soon our backyard was full of poplar.
On the fourth weekend a large circular saw was rented and the trees were cut to 14” lengths for the stove. It would now be my job and mine alone, to split and pile the wood so it would dry over the summer months. I knew this and did not have to be told.
My father had taken to calling me “Big Shot”. I suppose it was in reference to all the attention I had received due to the great success on the ice. My ability to now compete with him may have also been a factor. I will never know for sure.
“Well, Mr. Big Shot hockey player, do you think you can find time in your busy life to get that wood split and piled?” he grunted.
My answer was, “Yes I can. I’ll be there.”
“You damn well better be,” was his response.
Little did he know I was looking forward to it as a workout. I was already planning a conditioning program for the summer months and this would be nothing more than great conditioning. After all, what could be better to develop strength than splitting twenty-five to thirty cords of poplar wood? It was an added bonus to know I was providing help to the family in terms of our yearly warmth and cooking needs.
Quite frankly, I now realize that at this stage, I was becoming Mother’s “caretaker”. Even at the time, I viewed this work as a duty that I felt I owed her. I was doing things for her but heeded his word and directions as he regularly reminded me, “You are living under my roof.”
The Saturday of the fifth weekend was opening day for our baseball season. The game would be played at 4 p.m., in a park that was about a fifteen-minute walk from our home. I had planned to split and pile wood until about 2 p.m., then change and go to the ball field.
At about 11 a.m., who showed up but my father. He had been out with his friends, across the way from our place, and was just arriving home. I continued to work, deciding not to acknowledge he was there. He walked over, took a look at the wood I had split and piled and all of a sudden I heard, “Jesus, Jesus, Jesus”. It was something that he only uttered when he was very, very angry.
What happened next defies belief. He suddenly began tearing down the woodpile that I had carefully stacked that morning. I had actually reached the halfway point of the work I had planned to do that day. He walked up and down the row dismantling the pile until all but a few split pieces remained in place.
In a fit of rage and still swearing, he walked by me as I stood dumbfounded and afraid. He gave me a push, knocked me to the ground, picked up Nick’s axe and fired it against the coal shed, perhaps twenty feet away. Then he said to me, “Don’t you dare leave this yard until that row is stacked, and do it right this time.”
As he turned to walk toward the house, he tripped on a piece of wood and fell to the ground, hard. I went over to pick up my axe. Just then my mother, who had heard his loud cursing, showed up on the porch and yelled, “That’s enough!”
I will never know if I would have carried through with what was on my mind at that very moment. It was not meant to be. He left the yard and went back to his buddy’s home across the street. Shortly thereafter a car left the driveway and they were gone to who knows where.
Choking back the tears, angry beyond belief, I began to do the first row over again. I realized that I would not be playing baseball that day.
Within half an hour of the incident, a good friend and pitcher on our ball team dropped by to talk about the afternoon game. I told him I wouldn’t be able to make it and why. He left on his bike and I thought that was it. Within perhaps twenty minutes he returned with five teammates, and within an hour or so all the wood was split, stacked and it looked like a professional job.
At 4 p.m. I was in the line-up, went two for four and a walk at bat, and had a good game in the field. To my knowledge, my father did not return home that day, and the nasty event was never spoken of again. When he did arrive home on Sunday evening, he went to bed early and my mother most certainly did not bring up the incident.
On Monday morning I got up to go to work. He had already left for his job, which began at 6 a.m. For some time we spoke only on rare occasions, and then it was of nothing significant. It took time, but with consistent effort I eventually conquered the woodpile. There was a good deal of satisfaction in knowing the wood supply was in place.
Not trusting my father, I hid Nick’s axe away in the rafters of the coal shed. My special gift would be safe until I needed it again.
I had decided at that point, there was no longer any value in seeking the endorsement of my father. Nor would I ever hope for some kind of admiration the way young boys naturally do. I realized we were never going to achieve any form of “friendship”. I decided, for my mother’s sake we would try to co-exist and I would spend the least amount of time possible in his company.
“Hate” is not a word that has a place in my vocabulary. I don’t use it today, and for some reason I didn’t like it then either. Its definition, however, precisely depicts how I felt about my father at that time in my life (“to dislike intensely”). In my life I have used the word “dislike” and it tends to represent a feeling that I am sure we have all experienced.
I would ask readers now—right now—to use their best possible imagination. Imagine being discarded by your birth parent at the door of an orphanage. You are a toddler, and have been left there with your sister who is one year your junior. Years later, a staff member claimed the children could have frozen to death had she not happened to decide to clear the walk of fresh snow.
The two children became wards of the province of Quebec and both remained there until the little girl was adopted and removed from the facility. Rumour had it she went to a good home, with a couple that wanted her. She went on to live a relatively normal life. The little girl was my Aunt May.
My father, the other child, remained in the orphanage until he was fifteen years old.
My father told stories of the abuses that were regular practice, and how he would walk the chain fence daily hoping that someone would come for him as they had for his sister. It did not happen. In his fifteenth year he stole away at night, landing days later at a farmhouse somewhere in the Ottawa valley.
I will not detail the abuse he encountered as he worked his way from farm to farm. A simple high-level overview though, provides some insight into his experience. He often worked fourteen-hour days, for nothing more than his room and board. He was also made to sleep in the barn with the animals that he was attending to.
He lived in that fashion until he arrived in Campbell’s Bay, Quebec where he secured a steady job and was paid to take care of a large herd of milk cows. It was there that he met Bertha Marie Brown, a local beauty. He fell in love, and the rest is history.
I have shared this piece of my life story, because I believe it is important to have some comprehension of my father’s life. I do not want to be seen as vilifying him for his poor behaviour, for his anger, or for his obvious misuse of alcohol. I have grown to understand why he lived with such frustration; especially as he worked so hard and accomplished so little, with the exception of fathering his children.
He was not, in the sense of the word, a “good” father. He did, however, work very hard at whatever job he had in an effort to provide so that we could have some measure of potential to move forward with our lives.
I would like the readers to be aware of the fact that I have long since forgiven him for the treatment that he dealt to myself and other family members. When he passed from this world I felt no sorrow, but could not help but view him as a pathetic soul who had lived a difficult life. “He was dealt a lousy hand.” He left fourteen children who have all worked to make this world a better place. That, in and of itself, would be considered by many to be a suitable legacy.
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~ ~ ~
The “woodpile incident” had pretty much reinforced my thoughts and feelings about moving out, if not moving on, to live elsewhere.
Coincidentally or not, it was a short time later that I received a message from the St. Catharines Teepee, Junior “A” team. The note indicated that a scout representing their team would be in The Porcupine. They requested a meeting, with the primary focus being a discussion about my future. I replied that I would be pleased to oblige, and arrangements were finalized.
Looking back on life’s decisions that we all have to make, this was the first of three that would have a major effect on my life and on my hockey career, which at that time was my life.
I felt strongly that I should consult my coach. He was the only real mentor I had at the time. As I knocked nervously at Carlo’s door, and waited, I felt somewhat like a kid attending school on his first day. He was the only person who would understand my quandary and also knew my situation at home, which was far from normal.
After a short wait, which seemed like forever, Carlo came to the door and invited me in. We went right into Mary’s kitchen and sat at the table. I recall that I hadn’t even settled into my chair when a large piece of blueberry pie was placed in front of me.
Carlo opened the conversation and Mary left the room, “So they want you in St. Catharines for next year?”
I didn’t expect him to know anything of my communications with the St. Catharines team. This surprise was to be the first of a series of events that were to unknowingly unfold before me.
He explained, “Ivan, the St. Catharines Junior “A” team wants our juvenile team to become the South Porcupine Teepees—a change from the Red Wings. They want to sponsor our club and supply uniforms, some equipment, etc. In turn we will develop players for their Junior “A” team in St. Catharines. It’s a wonderful opportunity for us and I believe for our players as well.”
“You and Doug Houston are the first two they would like to see in their uniforms next year”. He paused as though waiting for me to speak, but I simply didn’t know what to say.
Finally he asked me, “Well, what do you think about that?”
His comments had caught me off guard. I attempted to quickly digest what had been said while struggling to respond. “Carlo, I came to ask you what you thought about me going ahead next year. It’s such a big step at sixteen, isn’t it?”
“Yes it is, it is a very big step. Since you are asking, my advice to you is to play another year of juvenile with our team. Go back to school if you can, and leave the move to the Junior “A” team for one more year.”
“However,” he added, “If you decide to go forward now, we will not hold you back.”
He continued, “Remember this Ivan: The cream always rises to the top. They will want you just as much after another year’s experience as they do right now. You are a genuine Junior “A” goalie prospect and they will wait.”
That was the best advice a young boy could possibly have received from one of the best men he would ever meet in his entire life.
Carlo waited for a few moments and then asked, “How are things at home?”
I replied, “Not good. Not good at all.”
He then questioned, “Your father?”
“Yes, we are not getting along and I’m afraid something will happen between us.”
Carlo asked, “ Would you like to move to another home? I have a good friend and his wife whom I believe would take you in for this winter. Would you consider that?”
He then stopped, got up from the table and said, “Ivan, have your meeting with the St. Catharines people, and then lets you and I come to a decision that will be best for you.”
He led me to the door and continued, “See you at ball practice this afternoon.” He smiled and followed up with, “Don’t be late!”
A week later I met with the St. Catharines scout. The proposal that they placed in front of me, as close as I can recall, was as follows:
They wanted me to play for their team the next year. They felt I had the ability to play at the Junior “A” level and they were prepared to pay for my schooling (grade 11), my room and board, and a set spending allowance each month. Also included would be the cost of transportation to and from St. Catharines. If I did not wish to go back to school, they would find a job for me at Thompson Products, the team sponsor.
When I explained that I was paying my family room and board each month, and that they needed that money, he reacted immediately, “We will issue your parents a cheque for $200 to cover each month you are in St. Catharines until you finish your Junior 'A' career. Oh, by the way, we will supply you with new equipment each year, as necessary.” He then asked whom the covering letter and offer should go to.
I replied, “Carlo Cattarello.” I finished by letting him know that the monthly cheque of $200 should be made out in my mother’s name.
He smiled and said, “That can be done.”
As we were finishing, the scout prompted, “Ivan, please let us know as soon as possible.”
At age sixteen I had experienced my first “business negotiations.” I left feeling a sense of relief that things had gone so well and could hardly contain the excitement that was growing inside. Not only was I being offered a unique opportunity to play hockey, but it would also allow me to address the urge to move on. Just as importantly, my mother would continue to receive some financial assistance to address the needs of our family.
What could possibly go wrong?
~ ~ ~
Until this point in my story, I have attempted to give the reader a basic outline, or at least some knowledge, of my life prior to the point when hockey would take on the characteristics of a career.
Hockey made a natural, effortless entrance into my life. It was originally experienced as a source of unconditional fun. I recall road hockey games that would last all day. A full day of fun was memorable to say the least.
“Game day” would start before daylight. It was important to clear the snow from the pond back of Helmer’s farm—the earlier the better. This allowed for the absolute fun to last as long as possible, before darkness would force an end to the game.
Part of the magic of these games came from the fact that they would rely on Molly… or more precisely her offerings. Molly was the Milbourns’ mare. It was necessary for her to drop her little brown jewels that would freeze in the twenty below weather and become an almost perfect puck.
As children, skating and playing on an open pond provided a sense of freedom that nothing else could offer. Any attempt to describe the sheer joy involved would not do it justice. It was a special time for those of us that were fortunate enough to experience it. As a result, a passion for the game was naturally formed. The memories are many and truly wonderful. This innocent beginning provided the basis of a journey toward fulfilling a dream of becoming an NHL goalie. As time went on, the serious aspects of the game would replace complete fun.
~ ~
The decision to move my life to St. Catharines seemed to be the right one. As soon as everything was finalized, I went to visit Carlo Cattarello. He was, as usual, gracious and understanding but did express his disappointment.
He finished with, “Ivan, I understand how important it is for you to move up to the next level in your career, and I wish you every success. I believe I have an understanding of why you have come to your decision.”
A lot was left unspoken, as we both seemed comfortable allowing the past to be left alone and the future to unfold as it should.
~ ~
I played baseball that summer for Carlo and Gerry Scott, and then moved to St. Catharines the first week of August. The plan was to attend a summer session—the Lloyd Percival goalie training program. It was the first of its kind anywhere.
My departure from the little town I had grown up in over the past fourteen years was uneventful. Two friends, Gary Mansfield and Joe Didone came to say goodbye. Gary’s dad provided the ride. I recall Gary and Joe standing at the station platform, all of us feeling awkward and perhaps just a bit sad.
For me there were mixed feelings. Some sadness in leaving familiar surroundings, but mostly anticipation and excitement in what I perceived as my opportunity to do what I thought would be my life’s work. To be perfectly candid, I was about as excited as a young boy could be.
The journey took two days by bus and train. When I arrived in St. Catharines a team official met me and drove me to my new home. It was a boarding house run by a lady named Ma Robbie. The team official dropped me off with a message to report to Thompson Products Monday morning at 9:00 a.m. I visited with Ma Robbie for a few hours then went to my room to sleep. I was dead tired and unsure about what the next day would bring.
I awoke Sunday morning in a whole new world. Ma Robbie had gone to church and left a message instructing me to get my own breakfast. I remember thinking, “Already a change in life style, so get on with it!”
The other three players slated to stay with Ma Robbie were not due to arrive until September 7th, in five more weeks. That Sunday was the loneliest and longest day of my life. There were more than a few moments during that day when I wondered if I had made the right decision.
I boarded a city bus in the afternoon and got off at the arena. It was closed. I discovered that being Sunday, everything was closed. I decided to walk along the main street and just do some window-shopping. It passed the time until late afternoon, at which point I went back to Ma Robbie’s, said a brief hello and went to bed. That would be my first day in the place where I was expecting to spend the next four years.
To this day when I hear the Johnny Cash song, “Sunday Morning Coming Down”, and the words “Lord I wish that I was stoned…”, it reminds me of that first Sunday on my own (but I would change the word “stoned” to “home”). I couldn’t believe I would even feel that way about my home; but I did.
Monday morning at 9:00 a.m. sharp I reported to the personnel office of Thompson Products. I met the new coach of the Junior "A" team and, I suppose you could say, received my marching orders. They had a full schedule laid out for me for the next few weeks, and my job at the factory began in two days. I received a tour of the plant from the coach who was also the personnel manager.
I did not miss the fact that people in the plant knew exactly who I was. I was the new goalie for their team, and that made an impression on me. I suppose it was somewhat of an ego builder for a kid that would soon let it get out of hand.
I began work at once, at a job I thought was more fun than work; especially after the bull gang. The week flew by and soon it was Friday afternoon.
On Saturday morning I decided to go and buy some new clothes. I had been given an advance on my first paycheque and of course, every young man in my position needed a new wardrobe!
Rex Stimers, the sports announcer, and the hockey voice of the Niagara area, had taken me aside the previous Sunday. I was having dinner with him and his lovely wife at their home when he said, “Young man, you are going to be an NHL goalie. You have to dress the part. When you get your first paycheque buy some good clothes.”
He then told me where to shop and to mention his name. This was heady stuff for a kid from South Porcupine who had only two pairs of pants and two shirts. I would usually wear the “cleanest dirty one”! In addition, I had arrived at my new home with one hockey jacket and a very small suitcase.
I recall Ma Robbie’s enquiry. “Is that all the clothes you have son?”
My reply was, “Yes ma’am, but I am going to buy new when I get some money.”
The best laid plans… What is the old saying? I believe it’s, “The best laid plans of mice and men” or is it young men?
Where this hockey club was concerned, and in my case specifically, the best laid plans were in place. All I needed to do was follow the script. That meant doing my job and working out religiously on the Lloyd Percival goalie program. In about one month’s time I would be playing Junior “A” hockey with a high profile team. Looking back, it seemed very straightforward.
It seemed to me that, as an aspiring young goalie, I should follow the advice of a more worldly, more experienced man. So, I went shopping for clothes to look the part. My life would be irrevocably changed by that decision. Not the simple decision to buy new clothes, but rather the location I chose to go shopping. The store was one I had noticed many times while window-shopping.
I admired the window display, thinking about how I would love to be able to shop there. However, this day the window was graced with a particularly attractive young woman dressing the male mannequins. She smiled, waved and went on with her work. I almost didn’t go in. Her acknowledgement had left me feeling a little nervous; maybe even shaken. I was surprised by how “off balance” I had become in such a short span of time. Regardless, I found myself deciding to enter the store.
When I stepped inside the young lady immediately came out from the window, smiled again and said, “Hi, can I help you?”
Remember the thoughts about the “best laid plans”? Well, at that moment, a major shift took place. Not only did the “plans” become secondary, but my personal priorities were unexpectedly altered.
Before going any further with this chapter I would like to address the women readers to be perfectly clear that what was going to happen over the next few weeks and then months was quite simply something that has happened many times over history. I should point out and make clear that I was never taken advantage of and most definitely never abused. I did believe that I had suddenly and perhaps permanently fallen in love.
Isn’t it truly amazing how women, God bless them, have the unique ability, often without even trying, to change the best laid plans of men? It is something that has been going on since the beginning of time.
She then said, “You are going to be our new goalie, aren’t you?”
I replied, “Yes, how did you know that?” I was quite taken aback.
“Well, I watched you play when you were here in the playoffs last March,” she paused and then continued, “You really played well. I’m glad you are going to be playing for us. My dad and I are really good fans and have season tickets.”
Right then I was certain that she could have sold me everything in the store.
Just before I had completed my shopping she began asking questions about what I was doing. She finished by asking, “Would you like to meet my dad? He is a serious fan and was a goalie in his younger days.”
“I would love to meet him,” I replied without hesitation, and gave her my phone number at Ma Robbie’s.
I paid my bill with cash. She walked me to the door and the last words I heard were, “I sure hope we get to meet again soon.”
I don’t recall how I got back to the boarding house. I think I walked, but I simply don’t remember . . .
Within a few days the young woman’s father invited me to dinner. He turned out to be a nice man, and we immediately hit it off. He was an ex-hockey player and a businessman. He worked for the Niagara Fruit Growers and travelled away from home a high percentage of the time.
Jenny (not her real name) spent a good portion of her spare time on her own, so I was invited to come to their home at any time. When I compared her company to that of the boarding house, the choice was not a difficult one. After all, what could be wrong with a sixteen year old spending time as a friend with an attractive twenty-four-year-old woman? Obviously, nothing.
A friendly relationship soon developed into something much more and that is how the month of August went. The training program did not materialize nor did I always show up on time for work. “The plans” were in a shambles.
The summer seemed to fly by and it felt as though the opening day of training camp had arrived more quickly than it should have. Imagine training on the same ice as the Boston Bruins, and getting to watch my idol, Frankie Brimsek, live and in person.
My vision of how things would unfold had been obscured as a result of personal choices. To say I wasn’t physically or mentally ready would be to put it mildly.
The day before training camp opened I was invited to a family picnic and dinner. We enjoyed that day and ended up staying late. I arrived home at 2:00 a.m. and set my alarm for 6:00 a.m. We were to begin the first session at 8:30 with a group of Junior “A” and pro rookies.
Before I disclose what happened during that first day at camp, I want to let the readers know, and especially women, that in no way do I hold this young women responsible. No one held a bag over my head, or a gun to my chest to say you must stay out until the wee hours of the morning. No one said, “Don’t worry! You really don’t need to train. After all, you are our number one goalie even without trying, Mr. Big Shot.” No one said any of that except the inner voice within a sixteen year old.
Without complete focus it was no wonder that I committed “the cardinal sin”—one that every goalie with no headgear or face protection, must avoid at all cost. (The goalie mask was not introduced until the mid 50’s. This was September 1947.)
Alex Brownlee, a truly great goalie from the Senior "A" Mines League in the Porcupine, had blatantly told me, “Never turn away or turn your back on the shooters. Remember kid, they’re idiots and half the time they have no idea where the puck will end up. Remember that, if you remember nothing else!”
That morning an unprepared goalie did not remember! Within the first twenty minutes of shooting practice I turned my attention away from the shooters to retrieve pucks in the net. It was then that it happened. I was struck with such force that I instantly fell to the ice unconscious. I remembered nothing.
When I came to I was lying on the trainer’s table in the Boston Bruins dressing room. I could feel nothing, but neither could I see from my right eye. A doctor was preparing to close a cut that ultimately required fourteen stitches. The bleeding open wound had clouded the eye. I felt nauseous, a normal reaction when struck by a frozen puck travelling perhaps seventy to eighty miles per hour. While I said nothing, I remember being scared to death, or worse.
Three days later I remained in the local hospital under observation for concussion-like symptoms. I could not yet see from the affected eye. The timeline is difficult to recall but I know that within a few days I found myself in a clinic in Toronto. At that point another specialist examined me.
After a thorough examination he gave me the news. “You have impaired vision from a bruise on your eye; with care and time it should return to near normal. I will give you eye drops and a series of exercises you must do three times a day as directed. I would like to see you again in thirty days and I will instruct your team that you are not to play again until I determine you to be ready.”
Then he added, “I doubt you will be ready to play until the New Year.”
He paused, looked directly at me and continued, “If then.”
He left the room saying, “See you in a month. Remember: three times a day and absolutely no hockey or strenuous exercise.”
Anyone who has ever had a dream will appreciate the overwhelming sadness of that moment.
~ ~ ~
The following months, through until Christmas break, were difficult. The nagging fear that I would be unable to follow my dreams was ever present.
I was unsettled by the anger, and probably the guilt, that I was dealing with. Unfortunately, at times it was reflected in my mood, even when I was with Jenny.
She finally came out and told me, “You are not fun to be with.”
It was hard to disagree with her feelings, and we both agreed the Christmas break would be good for our friendship. She was going with her dad to visit family in Quebec and I was going home to the Porcupine, courtesy of the Junior “A” hockey team, which was doing its best to see me through the injury.
The team played in Barrie, Ontario on December 20th, and I travelled with them. From there I then picked up a night train that took me to the Porcupine.
By that time the bandage was off. Other than sporting a nasty scar, which of course was a goalie’s badge of honour, it appeared on the surface that I was no worse for wear. The gravity of my situation had gone undetected by everyone except Carlo, who had been appraised of my eye problem. I reassured him, and myself, that I was going to begin playing with the Junior “B” team when I returned to St. Catharines. The Christmas break was uneventful and the visit with mother was pleasant.
Upon my return to Ma Robbie’s house on January 5th, I was given a pretty blue envelope with Jenny’s return address. I assumed it was a Christmas card that had arrived late. It was a letter. In the letter, Jenny quite simply stated that she needed time to sort out our friendship, and that she felt she had made a serious error in allowing our time together to become more than just a friendship. She also said she would call later so we could talk things through.
Visit: http://www.smashwords.com/books/view/235861 to purchase this book to continue reading. Show the author you appreciate their work!